Planning and Zoning Board



Meeting Minutes

Mesa City Council Chambers – Upper Level, 57 East 1st Street Date: September 14, 2022 Time: 4:00 p.m.

MEMBERS PRESENT:

MEMBERS ABSENT:

Benjamin Ayers

Jeff Crockett Jessica Sarkissian Shelly Allen* Troy Peterson Jeff Pitcher Genessee Montes

(*Boardmembers and staff participated in the meeting through the use of telephonic and video conference equipment)

STAFF PRESENT:

OTHERS PRESENT:

Rachel Prelog Michelle Dahlke Evan Balmer Cassidy Welch Sean Pesek Joshua Grandlienard Sarah Staudinger Pamela Williams

Call Meeting to Order.

Chair Crockett declared a quorum present and the meeting was called to order at 4:23 p.m.

1. Take action on all consent agenda items.

* * * *

Items on the Consent Agenda

2 Approval of minutes from previous meetings.

*2-a <u>Approval of minutes:</u> Revised minutes from the August 24, 2022 study session and regular hearing.

Boardmember Pitcher motioned to approve the minutes from the August 24, 2022 study session and regular meeting. The motion was seconded by Boardmember Allen.

Vote: 6-0 (Ayers, absent) Upon tabulation of vote, it showed: AYES – Crockett, Allen, Sarkissian, Peterson, Pitcher, Montes NAYS – None

3 Take action on the following zoning cases:

Boardmember Pitcher motioned to approve the consent agenda. The motion was seconded by Boardmember Allen.

Zoning cases: ZON22-00247, ZON22-00603, ZON21-00080, ZON21- 00995, ZON21- 01271, ZON22-00263, ZON22-00607, ZON22-00669, ZON22-00677, ZON22-00682, ZON22-00924 and preliminary plats: Grove on Main, Baseline Logistics Park, and Wentworth Mesa

Vote: 6-0 (Ayers, absent) Upon tabulation of vote, it showed: AYES – Crockett, Allen, Sarkissian, Peterson, Pitcher, Montes NAYS – None

* * * * *

*3-a ZON22-00247 District 6. Within the 8100 to 8200 blocks of East Germann Road (north side). Located west of Hawes Road on the north side of Germann Road. (10± acres). Site Plan Review. This request will allow for an industrial development. Robert Winton, Winton Architects, Inc., applicant; Republic Equity Funds LLC, owner.

<u>Planner</u>: Jennifer Merrill Staff recommendation: Approval with conditions

Summary: This case was on the consent agenda and therefore was not discussed separate individual item.

Boardmember Pitcher motioned to approve case ZON22-00247. The motion was seconded by Boardmember Allen.

That: The Board recommends approve the case ZON21-01115 conditioned upon:

- 1. Compliance with the final site plan submitted.
- 2. Compliance with all City development codes and regulations.
- 3. Compliance with all requirements of Design Review Case No. DRB22-00248.
- 4. Compliance with all requirements of Chapter 19 of the Zoning Ordinance including:
 - a. Owner must execute the City's standard Avigation Easement and Release for Phoenix Mesa Gateway Airport prior to or concurrently with the recordation of the final subdivision map or the issuance of any building permit, whichever occurs first.
 - b. Due to the proximity to Phoenix Mesa Gateway Airport, any proposed permanent or temporary structure, as required by the FAA, is subject to an FAA filing for review in conformance with CFR Title 14 Part 77 (Form 7460) to determine any effect to navigable airspace and air navigation facilities. A completed form with a response by the FAA must accompany any building permit application for structure(s) on the property.
 - c. Prior to the issuance of any building permit, provide documentation by a registered professional engineer or registered professional architect demonstrating compliance with the noise level reductions required in Section 11-19-5 of the Mesa Zoning Ordinance.
 - d. Provide written notice to future property owners that the project is within 1 mile of Phoenix-Mesa Gateway Airport.
 - e. All final subdivision plats must include a disclosure notice in accordance with Section 11-19-5(C) of the Zoning Ordinance which must state in part: "This property, due to its proximity to Phoenix-Mesa Gateway Airport, will experience aircraft overflights, which are expected to generate noise levels that may be of concern to some individuals."

Vote: 6-0 (Ayers, absent) Upon tabulation of vote, it showed: AYES – Crockett, Allen, Sarkissian, Peterson, Pitcher, Montes NAYS – None

ZON22-00603 District 6. Within the 9800 to 10000 blocks of East Elliot Road (south side), within the 3600 to 3900 blocks of South Everton Terrace (west side), and within the 3600 to 3900 blocks of South Eastmark Parkway (east side). Located east of Ellsworth Road on the south side of Elliot Road. (44± acres). Site Plan Review. This request will allow for an industrial development. Wendy Riddell, Berry Riddell, LLC, applicant; DMB Mesa Proving Grounds, LLC., owner.

<u>Planner</u>: Joshua Grandlienard <u>Staff recommendation</u>: Approval with conditions

Summary: This case was on the consent agenda and therefore was not discussed separate individual item.

Boardmember Pitcher motioned to approve case ZON22-00603. The motion was seconded by Boardmember Allen.

That: The Board recommends approve the case ZON22-00603 conditioned upon:

- 1. Compliance with the final site plan submitted.
- 2. Final Eastmark Design Review approval is required prior to the issuance of any building permit.
- 3. Compliance with Ordinance Number 4893 and the adopted Eastmark (Mesa Proving Grounds) Community Plan.
- 4. Compliance with the Eastmark Development Unit Plan for DU 5/6 South approved May 17, 2017.
- 5. Compliance with all City development codes and regulations.
- 6. Compliance with all requirements of Chapter 19 of the Zoning Ordinance including:
 - a. Due to the proximity to Phoenix-Mesa Gateway Airport, any proposed permanent or temporary structure, as required by the FAA, is subject to an FAA filing for review in conformance with CFR Title 14 Part 77 (Form 7460) to determine any effect to navigable airspace and air navigation facilities. A completed form with a response by the FAA must accompany any building permit application for structure(s) on the property.
 - b. Prior to the issuance of any building permit, provide documentation by a registered professional engineer or registered professional architect demonstrating compliance with the noise level reductions required in Section 11-19-5 of the Mesa Zoning Ordinance.
 - c. Provide written notice to future property owners that the project is within 3 miles of Phoenix, Mesa Gateway Airport
 - d. All final subdivision plats must include a disclosure notice in accordance with Section 11-19-5(C) of the Zoning Ordinance which must state in part: "This property, due to its proximity to Phoenix-Mesa Gateway Airport, will experience aircraft overflights, which are expected to generate noise levels that may be of concern to some individuals."

*3-b

Vote: 6-0 (Ayers, absent) Upon tabulation of vote, it showed: AYES – Crockett, Allen, Sarkissian, Peterson, Pitcher, Montes NAYS – None

* * * * *

- 4 Discuss and make a recommendation to the City Council on the following zoning cases:
- *4-a ZON21-00080 District 5. Within the 3600 to 3800 blocks of North Higley Road (east side) and the 5200 to 5500 blocks of East Thomas Road (south side). Located east of Higley Road on the south side of Thomas Road. (11± acres). Rezone from Single Residence 90 (RS-90) to Light Industrial with a Planned Area Development Overlay (LI-PAD), Council Use Permit (CUP), and Site Plan Review. This request will allow for a boat and recreational vehicle storage facility. Russell Skuse, Horrocks Engineers, applicant; R&S Development Group LLC, owner.

<u>Planner</u>: Joshua Grandlienard <u>Staff recommendation</u>: Approval with conditions

Summary: This case was on the consent agenda and therefore was not discussed separate individual item.

Boardmember Pitcher motioned to approve case ZON21-00080. The motion was seconded by Boardmember Sarkissian.

That: The Board recommends approve the case ZON21-00080 conditioned upon:

- 1. Compliance with final site plan submitted.
- 2. Compliance with all requirements of Design Review case DRB21-01173.
- 3. Compliance with all City development codes and regulations.
- 4. Execute and comply with the Development Agreement.
- 5. Compliance with all requirements of Chapter 19 of the Zoning Ordinance including:
 - a. Owner must execute the City's standard Avigation Easement and Release for Falcon Field Airport prior to or concurrently with the recordation of the final subdivision map or the issuance of a building permit, whichever occurs first.
 - b. Due to the proximity to Falcon Field Airport, any proposed permanent, or temporary structure, as required by the FAA, is subject to an FAA filing, for review in conformance with CFR Title 14 Part 77 (Form 7460) to determine any effect to navigable airspace and air navigation facilities. A completed form with a response by the FAA must accompany any building permit application for structure(s) on the property. Provide written notice to future property owners that the project is within two miles of Phoenix-Mesa Gateway Airport.
- 6. Compliance with all City development codes and regulations, except the modification to the development standards as approved with this PAD as shown in the following table:

Development Standards	Approved
Fences and Freestanding Walls –	
MZO Section 11-30-4(B)	8-foot-tall
Yards within the front yard	
<u>Outdoor Storage</u> –	
MZO Section 11-30-7	No setback from lot lines is required
Material stored outdoors	for boats and RVs stored outdoors.
Landscape Yards–	

MZO Table 11-7-3	
-Front facing and street facing sides	5 feet
adjacent t to a freeway (south property	
line)	

Vote: 6-0 (Ayers, absent) Upon tabulation of vote, it showed: AYES – Crockett, Allen, Sarkissian, Peterson, Pitcher, Montes NAYS – None

* * * * *

*4-b ZON21-00995 District 6. Within the 8900 block of East Pecos Road (south side), within the 7200 block of South 89th Place (west side), and within the 8900 block of East Waltham Avenue (north side). Located west of Ellsworth Road on the south side of Pecos Road (2± acres). Rezone from Light Industrial with a Planned Area Development Overlay (LI-PAD) to Light Industrial with a Planned Area Development Overlay and Bonus Intensity Zone Overlay (LI-PAD-BIZ), and Site Plan Review. This request will allow for an industrial development. Ian Mulich, Pinnacle Design, Inc., applicant; OLYMPUS DEVELOPMENT & INVESTMENTS LLC, owner.

<u>Planner</u>: Jennifer Merrill <u>Staff Recommendation</u>: Approval with conditions

Summary: This case was on the consent agenda and therefore was not discussed separate individual item.

Boardmember Pitcher motioned to approve case ZON21-00995. The motion was seconded by Boardmember Sarkissian.

That: The Board recommends approve the case ZON21-00995 conditioned upon:

Vote: 6-0 (Ayers, absent) Upon tabulation of vote, it showed: AYES – Crockett, Allen, Sarkissian, Peterson, Pitcher, Montes NAYS – None

* * * * *

*4-c ZON21-01271 District 4. Within the 600 block of West University Drive (south side), within the 300 block of North Hosick (east side), and within the 300 block of North Date (west side). Located west of Country Club Drive on the south side of University Drive (1.5± acres). Rezone from Limited Commercial (LC) and Single Residence 6 (RS-6) to Multiple Residence 4 with a Planned Area Development Overlay (RM-4-PAD) and Site Plan Review. This request will allow for a multiple residence development.

Planner: Cassidy Welch

Staff Recommendation: Continue to the September 28, 2022 Planning and Zoning Board meeting

Summary: This case was on the consent agenda and therefore was not discussed separate individual item.

Boardmember Pitcher motioned to continue case ZON21-01271 to the September 28, 2022 planning and Zoning Board meeting. The motion was seconded by Boardmember Allen.

That: The Board recommends to continue case ZON21-01271 to the September 28, 2022 Planning and Zoning Board meeting.

Vote: 6-0 (Ayers, absent) Upon tabulation of vote, it showed: AYES – Crockett, Allen, Sarkissian, Peterson, Pitcher, Montes NAYS – None

* * * * *

*4-d ZON22-00263 District 2. Within the 5600 to 5800 blocks of East Inverness Avenue (north and west side) and within the 5600 to 5800 blocks of South Sunview (north and south sides). Located east of Higley Road and north of Baseline Road (50± acres). Rezone from Planned Employment Park with a Planned Area Development Overlay and Council Use Permit (PEP-PAD CUP) to Planned Employment Park with a Planned Area Development Overlay (PEP-PAD), Light Industrial with a Planned Area Development Overlay (LI-PAD), and Site Plan Review. This request will allow for an industrial development. Sean Lake, Pew & Lake, PLC, applicant; VHS ACQUISITION SUBSIDIARY NUMBER 11 INC, owner. (Companion case to Preliminary Plat "Baseline Logistics Park," associated with item *5-b)

Planner: Cassidy Welch

Staff Recommendation: Continue to the September 28, 2022 Planning and Zoning Board meeting.

Summary: This case was on the consent agenda and therefore was not discussed separate individual item.

Boardmember Pitcher motioned to continue case ZON22-00263. The motion was seconded by Boardmember Allen.

That: The Board recommends approve the case ZON22-00263 conditioned upon

Vote: 6-0 (Ayers, absent) Upon tabulation of vote, it showed: AYES – Crockett, Allen, Sarkissian, Peterson, Pitcher, Montes NAYS – None

* * * * *

4-e ZON22-00431 District 2. Within the 5700 to 5900 blocks of East Baseline Road (north side), within the 1800 to 1900 blocks of South Sunview (west side), and within the 5700 to 5900 blocks of East Inverness Avenue (south side). Located west of Recker Road on the north side of Baseline Road. (10± acres). Rezone from Planned Employment Park with Planned Area Development overlay and Council Use Permit (PEP-PAD-CUP) to Multiple Residence 5 with a Planned Area Development overlay (RM-5-PAD) and Site Plan Review. This request will allow for a multiple residence development. Charles Huellmantel, Huellmantel & Affiliates, applicant; VHS Acquisition Subsidiary Number 11, INC., owner.

Planner: Cassidy Welch Staff recommendation: Denial

Summary:

Staff member Cassidy Welch presented case ZON22-00431:

This is a request to rezone the property from Planned Employment Park with a Planned Area Development overlay and a Council Use Permitto Multiple Residence 5 with a Planned Area Development overlay and Site Plan Review. That request will allow for multiple residence development. The site is located on the north side of Baseline Road and the west side of SunView Road and west of Power Road. So the General Plan designation for this property is currently Specialty, with a Medical Campus subtype. The intent behind the Specialty Medical Campus is for large areas with a single use. So because of this Medical Campus subtype, the intent is to provide a large area that is supportive of medical campus and educational medical campus uses. So per the 2040 Mesa General Plan, there are primary zoning and land uses, and secondary zoning and land uses that must be met. So within the Specialty District, a minimum 80% of the primary zoning and land uses must be met before secondary land uses can be met. So hospitals, medical offices, clinics, supportive hotel, as well as NC, LC, GC, PP, and LI zoning districts are all identified within that primary classification. Multiple residences, supportive commercial, and retail are identified as a secondary classification. But the only zoning district within that is the RM, and this request is for an RM 5 which has not identified as a secondary land use within the Specialty General Plan character area designation. When you look at this area in total, there's approximately 254 acres within the Specialty classification. Approximately 71 acres are currently developed for those primary land uses, and so that minimum 80% has not been met, and therefore staff is unable to support the request.

So the specific zoning that the applicant is requesting is Multiple Residence 5. The intent behind that Multiple Residence zoning district is to provide areas for a variety of housing. Again, the requested Multiple Residence zoning is not consistent with the General Plan, nor is it compatible with the surrounding area and staff is not in support. The site is currently vacant.

As we get into the Planned Area Development overlay request, the applicant is requesting some deviations from the RM 5 development standards. Those include an increase in the maximum building height and increase in the maximum building setbacks, some modifications to the landscape yards, a reduction in the required parking ratio, and a reduction in the drive aisle setback. Staff has particular concerns with the reduction of the interior landscape yard setback. The requirement is 15 feet for non-single residence uses, adjacent to other non-single residence uses. The proposed site plan shows a reduction down to 10 feet, as well as the

reduced parking ratio. However, the applicant has provided a parking study that supports the requested ratio. So the site plan is for 394 units and for buildings that are four stories each. Primary access to the site will be from Baseline Road, with the secondary access off of Inverness Avenue. There is a centralized amenity space in the central area of the site surrounded by those buildings. The applicant did attend a Design Review Board work session on September 13, yesterday evening, and was supportive of the proposed elevations. However, they were made aware of staffs' recommendation of denial for the proposed site plan and land use.

The applicant did conduct a citizen participation process which included notification to property owners within 1000 feet, as well as HOAs, and registered neighborhoods. They did conduct two neighborhood meetings. At the time this presentation was made, and the staff report was written, we did not have the additional letter of support from AT Still University, that is included in the Planning and Zoning Board packet. So in summary, we find that the proposed development does not comply with the 2040 Mesa General Plan, nor does it meet the criteria for a Planned Area Development overlay and Site Plan Review outlined in Chapters 22 and 69 of the Mesa Zoning Ordinance. And therefore staff is recommending denial and I'd be happy to answer any questions.

Boardmember Peterson inquired:

Cassidy can you drill down onto the numbers a little bit? Just because the percentages are critical here for the land, the primary and secondary land uses. What is the 254 or 8 acres and maybe part of the history of what we're dealing with? Is it 254? Or is it part of a previous PAD? And when was that PAD approved?

Staffmember Cassidy Welch responded:

So the 254 acres accounts for the total area within the Specialty character area designation. It's not a PAD, it's the entire area within the blue that you're seeing on the map.

Boardmember Peterson inquired:

And, and so of that 71 acres has been developed for the primary use today. Is that correct?

Staffmember Cassidy Welch responded:

That is correct. 71 acres has been developed for the primary land uses as defined in the Mesa 2040 General Plan, an additional 54 acres is anticipated to the north of the subject site.

Boardmember Peterson inquired:

And that 54 is one of the cases that got continued that you're referring to, and that fits within the primary uses. Okay. So then on the trigger for the minimum 80% for primary before you can... the other multifamily uses within that blue zone that have been developed are ready, those were part of that 20% allowance, maybe it gives some history on that.

Staffmember Cassidy Welch responded:

So the percentages were a part of a recent amendments that was made to the 2040 Mesa General Plan amendment. These multiple residences were actually developed prior to that 2040 Mesa General Plan, in 2014.

Boardmember Peterson inquired:

Okay, so. So the criteria for the 80% threshold was part of the 2040 General Plan?

Cassidy Welch

It was a part of a recent amendment that was made in 2020.

Boardmember Peterson inquired:

I guess what I'm trying to get is, is the 254, that includes these things that were before the rule got put into place? How did those fit if they're part of the 254, but now they're not part of it? I guess I'm just trying to cut to what acreage there is, and what's left, because is the 254 left to be developed, or those multifamily parcels are part of the 254.

Staffmember Cassidy Welch responded:

The multiple residence developments that exist would be inclusive in the 254 acres. So if you're looking at total percentages, they would count towards that 20% of secondary land uses.

Boardmember Peterson inquired:

But even though they're approved before the rule that restricts the 20%?

Staffmember Cassidy Welch responded:

That's correct. And I think it's important to note that, while the percentages are critical, as discussed in the study session, Chapter 5 of the General Plan identifies the maintenance and preservation of commercial areas. And so these areas are currently zoned Planned Employment Parks, that they could develop for commercial and employment uses. And it's the goal of the General Plan to support those employment uses within the City. And so when you take into account the existing multiple residence that's already been there, we want to make sure that we're maintaining and preserving any additional viable areas for those commercial and employment uses.

Boardmember Peterson inquired:

Okay, well said. And then just to clarify that the case that was continued, the additional 54 acres, what types of uses are proposed on that?

Staffmember Cassidy Welch responded:

There is a request to rezone that property from PEP-PAD to LI PAD and PEP -PAD. So it's a mixture of large scale and small scale industrial buildings, and the applicant is actually working with staff on a development agreement that would put some limitations on land uses to encourage medical manufacturing uses, that are more consistent with the medical campus subtype.

Boardmember Peterson inquired:

Okay. So it's industrial type uses that, but they're trying to target those to the medical?

Assistant Planning Director Rachel Prelog:

Correct Chair and Boardmembers, as well as research and development space.

Chair Crockett invited the applicant to speak.

Applicant Charles Huellmantel, 605 S Ash Ave, Tempe, AZ 85281 spoke:

For record, I appreciate the opportunity to be here. It's good to see most of you again and welcome, as a new member, you may regret by the end of this evening, having accepted those responsibilities. Welcome. I think you pointed out the first point, which is these cases are gone. And this is the reason for the commission to decide the cases that aren't so easy. This is one of those cases that we've had an opportunity to work with your staff for guite some time and frankly, we respectfully disagree. And so you'll hear a very different presentation from us than you did from staff. I have a presentation prepared as these things go, they change a bit because we have the advantage of hearing what you discussed in the study session, which likewise is the purpose for the study session. So I may jump around a little bit based on hearing some of the things in the study session. The thing that I heard that I think was probably most relevant is staffs' acknowledgement that the real issue is that they don't like multifamily. And I guess that doesn't really come as a surprise. But I'm going to spend a lot of time talking about that. Because it's important to the core of the case, really, I suspect everyone knows well, the site, you've heard at least twice from staff, like to talk a little bit about the site. A big part of our case relies on the fact that to the right of us on the screen is a AT Still campus. And they have been in Mesa for a long time. I think some of the discussion, one of the questions earlier was what are the buildings to the east of us. And that entire area is the AT Still campus. And we have spent quite a bit of time talking with them. I hope that you've had a chance to see the letter in the packet. They come in strong support of housing and they do so very clearly. Because when they came to me, so they came because it was going to be a campus. It came a long time ago. Somebody mentioned earlier in the in the hearing, or the study session, you know, what was this case it was 2008. And every morning, I like to think that I'm every bit the same person I was in 2008. And then I get up and I go for a run and I realize I'm not. A lot has happened since 2008 and times change. Things have changed dramatically since then and that's one of the things I'm going to talk about. One of the dreams that Mesa had in 2008 and one of the reasons we come here with this zoning is because, at that point in time, Mesa wanted a hospital campus. And the simple reality is, they have one, and they don't have one, but it's not the one that they had hoped for. Banner has built a significant campus and tenant health care is not in the business of competing against a business that's already serving its patient base. There isn't room for another campus, tenant has been very clear about that. And I'll talk about that as we go through the presentation. But he still came because it was going to be a medical campus. And they have fulfilled their portion of that dream. They have brought many students, as well as faculty, to Mesa and their letter clearly indicates, and all of their conversations with us that they plan to have that campus. In fact, you may or may not know, I didn't know before the start of this case- that's why the Y is there. Rather than building their own separate piece, they work together to build the Y? Because they wanted it to be a campus feel. And it works for everyone the Y gets the opportunity to have a good place to be. And it still doesn't have to repeat those amenities. If you go to, for example, Arizona State, you're going to find the student rec center and that serves just the students and the faculty. And just down the block there are several gyms, because this was a campus that's not the way AT Still proceeded. One of their dreams always was to build residential. And in our first meeting with a AT Still, we showed them some renderings and they said, Oh, my God, that's almost exactly what we wanted to build. But we weren't able to do it. This is really exciting. We're super excited that you'll be there. And so

we've worked with them on the site plan and on elevations. It's worth noting and I'm going to show you some elevations that the Design Review Board was not silent, as you heard first, but actually very favorable about the project and we take great pride in the fact it is a good project. And we're discussing whether or not this is the appropriate place for it. And I know this is not the place for Design Review, but it's nice to come with such a warm welcome from Design Review, Review,

We would argue that it's exactly the right place, not just because of AT Still, but there's a significant need in this area for housing. And I'm kind of bounced around from my original presentation, just because I know some of the things that you've talked about. But frankly, the fact that we don't have neighborhood opposition is a really important point; we're going to spend a bunch of time today talking about why we think housing is important. It's important because while Mesa has spent time talking today about the need for preserving employment base, a lot has changed again, since 2008. In 2008, people were happy to take long commutes. And people were happy to go into work every day. In fact, the idea that they wouldn't go into work every day was sort of an anomaly. And we're not in 2008, we are where we are. And since that time, the campus, the medical campus has occurred again, much of it is in Gilbert, not in Mesa. But the theory of the General Plan was we would have these uses and that's why housing is allowed as a secondary use. Because quite simply, if you're going to continue to bring new jobs, you have to find places for people to live. And it's hard to find places. I was in the study session in the actual DRB, last night, and there was an another apartment deal. And there was a lot of friction in that case. And the reason that friction was there, in part because they wanted to put apartments in an area that had previously been focused more on single family homes. And that brings out lots of folks. But you don't see folks like that here today. There's no one here in opposition except staff. And we've had, not one but two meetings. And we have AT Still, the nearest university, the nearest neighbor here is in strong support, because they need what we're offering, which is a place for their students to live. Their students are there for a while, especially the good ones are there for only a short period of time. And then they move on, many of them will move on to the same neighborhood, because they'll move towards the campus that Banner has built. Yes, it's in Gilbert, but they're still going to be in the neighborhood, they're still going to use the streets, and there aren't places for them to live. The cost and vacancy of apartments has been dramatic over the last several years in this area. If you wanted to live, there's probably one exception. One of the other projects that is in this planning area is income restricted project. Which means you have to qualify to live there. It's not available to everyone. But if you take the market right product within miles of this site, it's 97% occupied. And that means it's 100% occupied, except for people moving in and out. There are no places for people to rent, there are no places for people to live. This is not a site for single family homes. It's not a site for hospital uses. And I'll get to that in just a second. But this is a place. And I have since, I showed the slide, let me cut to that piece, in 2008, this is another thing that makes it, was talking about, they were talking about the HEAT initiative. The first two parts of HEAT initiative are healthcare and education. That's why AT Still ended up here because that's what Mesa was talking about. That was the dream they believed in. And we're helping fulfill that dream by letting it be a campus, by letting people live near the school they go to, by letting people work near the place they live in. One of the tremendous expenses over the last several years with healthcare has been the need for hospitals to hire people temporarily because people don't want to move there, because there

aren't places for them to live. And again, this is the area again, I understand the sensitivity of talking about some of it being in Gilbert. But that's the reality that hospital has built. They spent millions and millions of dollars building it, it's there and it serves the public. Its people are not going to just have to go to another hospital across the street. Because Mesa would rather it be in Mesa. Jump around here for a second and find... Tenant has been very clear this is a letter from Tenant Health Care, you asked this question earlier. And you're absolutely right, Tenant Health Care is selling pieces of the land and as I sold it, including AT Still, AT Still has restrictions. Those are different than all the others because they're education based and they're allowed to do the educational uses that are aligned with healthcare. No surprise, because that helps the healthcare industry. They want those future trained employees. But the other uses are not going to be healthcare.

They're simply not the idea that they're going to be is going on, it's not a public policy issue, it's not something that you can discuss as a City because it's a private property, right. But every one of those properties has deed restrictions on it. And I can probably find them, these are some of the deed restrictions, and I'll leave them up. But the deed restrictions that are prohibited on this property are basically everything that would be a competing hospital, Tenant is not going to sell the land, and allow someone to come in and use the uses that would compete against what they do. They will build somewhere else in the value, they're not in the business of creating competition for themselves. So we can pretend to have a discussion about that. But it's not very realistic. And I'm going to move to the next page, it also limits you from selling to anyone who has interest in those kinds of businesses. So it's not going to be healthcare. So now you're left with the discussion about what else can go there. And some of it is light industrial, and you have a discussion even earlier today about that? Well, you probably know AT Still is opposed, or has been opposed to having industrial, and I don't speak for that issue. It does sort of bring up the issue that they have brought up with us, which is we want things that are campus oriented, and they've been clear that they don't think light industrial, is campus oriented. This helps them get to the thing that they're looking for, which is housing. One of the issues, and I'm going to cover a few things just to make sure that I have an opportunity to address the comments you've made. One of the things that staff put up was parking too, and I would like to point out, you know, parking is something we could work on. It isn't really the issue. We know that the real issue is multifamily. But the way that Mesa calculates its code is similar to many cities, but frankly a bit antiquated, which is by unit. So we have three bedroom units and we have one bedroom units. And so depending on what that mix is, your parking ratio can sound great or terrible. We're at .99 per bedroom. So think, forget the code for a second and just think practically please, and that means that every bedroom has a parking space which is more than fair, given what real parking ratios are throughout the Valley in terms of what people do in terms of having vehicles and having units. if that were the real issue. If parking were the real issue. Certainly we would get to the table and try to work through that. As Jeff pointed out, we have a report that says this is consistent with what happens in the industry and that it works well. One minute before my client, I don't want to take too much time, I know you've seen lots and I wanted to make sure my client had an opportunity to make sure I covered what was necessary. Be happy to answer questions as you have then.

Boardmember Pitcher inquired:

I'll quiz you on the legal side of it. Can you put that slide back up about the restrictions? So who's the hospital arm that has the approval right here?

Applicant Charles Huellmantel responded:

Tenant Health care. Do you want me to give you a copy?

(papers were passed to Boardmember Pitcher)

Chair Crockett inquired:

So, this is what you would expect to be given to sign.

Applicant Charles Huellmantel responded:

I mean, we know that it will be required of you okay, and it has been required of others? So it's just not unique to our piece, that that is what's been required throughout and I think you'll find that probably on each of the pieces? Or something very similar to it, it still is slightly different because they're allowed to have medical uses that are associated with education, for obvious reasons.

Boardmember Peterson inquired:

So what is the relationship of Tenant with this acquisition subsidiary that owns this and the property to the north?

Applicant Charles Huellmantel responded:

I'm not an expert on that. I believe it's a holding company for Tenant that operates and owns their land holdings.

Boardmember Peterson added:

So let's call it the related entity. Yes, thank you.

Boardmember Sarkissian inquired:

I don't know if this is so much a question for the applicant, or they could answer it, but I'm sure I would like prefer staffs' answer. So this the question Cassidy touched upon it with the Employment area, that 254 acres, that is the General Plan category, correct? There's a PAD over this property that restricts it to the same degree, that you're talking about? I know it's a Specialty Character Area, but she mentioned that was part of the General Plan as opposed to a zoning.

Staffmember Cassidy Welch clarified:

The 254 acres is within the Specialty Character Area designation, so if includes multiple properties and different property owners. There is not one Planned Area Development overlay for the 254 acres.

Boardmember Sarkissian reiterated:

Okay, so for this 254 acres, they've all been developing independently.

Staffmember Cassidy Welch confirmed:

That's correct as they come in.

Boardmember Peterson added:

With that inside my head, stuck on these numbers a little bit still, though. So with the was the Specialty Character Area was approved in what year?

Staffmember Cassidy Welch responded:

The 2040 Mesa General Plan was approved in 2014.

Boardmember Peterson added:

Okay, so 2014, and a lot of these the apartments and everything else developed, but I guess when the 80% rule coming in, when you included all these areas that were already developed with multifamily and with retail along Higley Road. Then that's looked at, and just looking at it, it looks like more than 20%. So it almost says that 20% gone until the, for this whole area. Am I interpreting that correctly?

Staffmember Cassidy Welch responded:

I believe it accounts for approximately 17% of the existing multiple residents.

Boardmember Peterson added:

Okay, so what about the retail along Higley Road? Is that also part of the 20?

Staffmember Cassidy Welch responded:

The retail on Higley Road is actually not within the Specialty Character Area designation.

Boardmember Peterson added:

Okay, gotcha. And is the 80%. Is that, I guess, how specific or how are arbitrary was the 80? Do you know what the history was for the 80%?

Staffmember Cassidy Welch responded:

And then the genesis behind the 80%?

Development Services Director Dr. Nana Appiah spoke:

Chair, Boardmembers Peterson, the Development Services Director- so it's very important for you to look at the intent of the percentages. I think we get in stuck with a specific numbers, the intent of those primary and secondary ratios was to make sure that the primary dominant use that forms the core character of that designation, is really developed. Because over time, over the years, what we experience in the City is, we have a General Plan Character designation that is intended for specific character defining area. But because we don't define what is supposed to be the major dominant character for the area, we allow the secondary which is supposed to be the accessory to be developing over time, the secondary and accessory takes over the specific intent character of the area. So a couple of years ago after experiencing that, we came up and discussed that moving forward. We want the dominant character users to be the defining developed character of the area and once that is done, then the accessory or the secondary uses can be developed to support it. Either that happens independently or when there is a proposed development. With a 20% as part of that, or the 80% needs to be developed, and then later on the 20% can come in. So at the end of the day, we ensure that the dominant

character area is actually being developed. So that's really the intent behind the ratio. And in this specific case, one of the major issue here is this is one of the prime ways in the City that is actually left for such a large area to be developed as employment uses, our support for employment uses is not that we don't recognize the need for multifamily. We do recognize the need, however, there are several other locations in the City that can be developed for residential. In addition, we also look at it on a case by case basis. There have been a couple of cases that have come before you that were zoned, like Limited Commercial or employment uses, that we believe actually rezoning it to residential was the right thing to do to really support and energize, or revitalize the area. This is one of the areas that we believe that actually taking that employment land for residential is not a right appropriate use, at the location. At the end of the day, it doesn't promote the goal of Economic Development for the City.

Chair Crockett inquired:

I have a question for you, with the types of deed restrictions that we're looking at here that the owner of the property is putting on, it seems like that has the potential to thwart the Medical Campus Character of this area. So I guess the way I'm looking at it, if they want to sell their property, they need to maybe get rid of the deed restrictions?

Development Services Director Dr. Nana Appiah responded:

So that's really a good thing. Unfortunately, none of the staff was aware of this, we just saw, at least I just saw that, I'm not sure if my staff have even had this conversation. That's one. Number two, the property right now is zoned Planned Employment Park. So when the property owner went through, right now they can go ahead and develop it for non-residential uses that are allowed in the PEP. And I believe when the PEP zoning regulation was put on the property. The applicant can answer this question, but I believe this deed restriction was still on the property. And so, in addition to the deed restriction, that site doesn't have to be developed specifically for this medical uses. The alternative to non-medical uses, this location is non-residential. There is a large volume or demand for other non-residential uses in the City that can actually be looked at, or review for those uses as well.

Chair Crockett added:

Thank you that appreciate that clarification.

Boardmember Peterson inquired:

Director, thank you for that input. So I remember, in the late 90s, when this area first started, the infrastructure first started going in. And so to your point, of this is a very high demand area, I fully agree with that there's a disconnect, is that supply and demand has manifest over time, right. And so here we are 25 years later, and it still has a significant amount of undeveloped area were looking at. The other side of Higley Road, where Banner and then Anderson, those have all filled out robustly, and even I've had some personal consulting involvement on the south side of Baseline Road, where they thought that same time in the early 2000s, everybody thought everything around here would be medical. But once those pieces kind of fell into place, then as the applicant's representative as has said, you want to pieces fall into place. You can end, so you see on the south side, you know that they started with some medical desires and hospital desires, then it turned into assisted living. And it turned into some small percent assisted living. And then the rest retail, which is a very robust retail center. There's certainly

demand for that and so the disconnect is, here we are 25 years later, this is the high demand site, but with the restrictions placed on it. It would seem like especially over the last 10 years of hyper growth and development that, if there was the demand for the things that we're talking about limiting for here, why hasn't that occurred over the last 10 years or more?

Development Service Director Dr. Nana Appiah responded:

That's actually a good question, but to answer your question, there is a reason why the General Plan allows for rezoning, and to go through this process. Going through this process is one of the things we do when projects come through the City. We review that together with our Economic Development Department, and they are very much aware of the demand in that area. And there is the potential demand that can actually can be those that can be developed in the area, other than residential. So going back to my response, the alternative for the demand is more residential. There are, as we talked about, and I know you guys were talking about the existing project right now that is coming through that has not actually come before you, which was still an ongoing discussion, so I don't want to really get sidetrack with that discussion. But those are the demands that, actually right now, there is a need for it. And so we have to look at it from the overall demands. Right now, one of the things there is a lot of demand for non-residential uses in the City of Mesa, as well. As you know, we are one of the fastest growing cities, you can see on the agenda, a lot of demand. So, what we are trying to do is to make sure there is a balanced City. We are balancing where people live and also providing employment for them. So, when we get this project, we look at and review that with Economic Development. And sometimes we say, yes this site there has been vacant, there's not been much in demand. And we believe that this is an area that we can rezone to example, residential. But this was one of the sites that we believe there is more demand and there are other potential uses that we could preserve it, we can obtain those uses.

Chair Crockett commented:

Director Appiah, I think I don't want to put words in your mouth but I think what you're saying is if even if it's not a medical demand on the property, there are other types of demand that would go there that are consistent with the existing zoning, or the PAD. That's correct? Okay.

Boardmember Pitcher inquired:

Yeah. And that thank you that follows my question, is in reviewing the restrictions that looks like as their hospital related, and emergency related kind of uses, so are there some uses that you feel are going to be separate from those that are restricted, that are interested in this?

Development Services Director Dr. Nana Appiah responded:

I haven't seen the deed restriction. So, I really don't know. But there is so many in the Planned Employment Park, there are so many other uses that are not medical related.

Boardmember Sarkissian inquired:

So, I have a question being that this has been and you know, an area that you're targeting and stuff like that, for this type of growth, and because it's a high employment area, is this site within an opportunity zone?

Development Services Director Dr. Nana Appiah

I'm not sure if it's an opportunity zone.

Boardmember Sarkissian added:

So that's a little bit of my concern, whether this is pushed back and stalls to see what happens. But I think that's my concern is that I have personally driven past this on the freeway since 2003. And I'm looking at historic aerials, the second building for a while went in 2004-ish. The road to get through was done in 2007, the YMCA was then in 2010., and the parcels that we're talking about have continued to sit. And while we've done nice projects before waiting for other things to come through, and then nothing happens. And so, I'm just wondering at what time do we do we open it up to other things, if it's not going to be because there's been, like Banner is exploded on that side and they've had issues with not enough housing, for because they want the higher quality, for doctors and stuff like that. I don't know if this one is specifically geared towards the doctors or more of the students but regardless, I know there's a housing shortage issue. But I'm kind of on time to talk because it's like you want to wait for the better, you know, you're waiting for the better but you don't have the better in front of you. But then on the other side, you also have an issue of, this is what's in front of us at this time. And what are we trying to do? Because you mentioned like that project at the South, in Gilbert on the south side. I did that, I worked on that project and that was 60 acres of regional and that was set for Office Employment type uses. And it became assistance to the medical which was the assisted living, and the memory care, assist nursing home, and then also came with it the hotels to assist the Banner, and then it came to the commercial. It's like they feed off of each other. The other thing is because we're so good right now at the industry, off of Elliott and beginning to Gateway, I don't know if that's pulling those high tech R&D stuff that way versus keeping it. I don't know, if it's kind of pulling it away from this area, and I don't know, chicken or egg like, what do you wait for? Especially since it doesn't have an opportunity zone on it, makes me a little more hesitant to say let's wait, let's keep it like it is.

Development Services Director Dr. Nana Appiah responded:

Chair, Boardmembers, so what staff is recommending is not to wait and keep it idle until something comes up. This is something that we deal with daily for the employment or commercial designated land uses that, constant comments or consistent argument that comes up when they come to rezone it is, it's been idle for so many years and so, we want to basically rezone to residential daily, conversations. If we go that route, we will be rezoning a majority of our employment land uses that can be converted to residential. What we are saying is, this is the land that is preserved for employment and as a City, there are examples of places that we started, and the City basically stood and said, we still want to preserve this for employment uses and after 15-10 years, is come back and developed for employment uses. On the contrary, there's been other places that had been preserved for employment uses, and in the most recent years, we've rezone them from light industrial to residential, because we believe that of all the things that have been developed around with a retail, with restaurants, and all that. There is one example around that I only mentioned that you guys actually recommended approval last year, it was on for light industrial, but the surrounding developments were commercial restaurants and we believed that rezoning the light industrial actually to residential was going to help provide the foot traffic to support the restaurants and other uses, looking at this side, this is one of the site I still believe that it needs to be rezone to residential.

Applicant Charles Huellmantel added:

Okay, I'd like to respond to those comments, I think would make more sense to open to public comment first and then okay to allow me to respond after.

Chair Crockett commented:

Okay. Absolutely. So I have one speaker slip that is by former council member Richens. So I invite him to the podium and state your name and address for

Chair Crockett opened the public hearing.

Dave Richins, 833 West 11th Place spoke:

I didn't realize that I would feel a certain amount of PTSD coming back at this building, I was rather surprised, like I spent way too much of my life in this room. I was there when we did this 2014. This General Plan in 2014. If you open the book, you'll see my name there on the first page. And I've heard a lot of banter by folks who were not here during that period about what we intended by that General Plan. One of the things that I heard was that, you know, the intent of the General Plan is to preserve these job producing uses. And I'm going to say if you look at the General Plan, on the on the title of almost every page, it says the goal of the General Plan was to create recognizable neighborhoods, innovative jobs and memorable public spaces. That's it. And so, what are we trying to accomplish here? That's what this whole case is really hinging on. There is a solution to this, and it lies within a subtype in the General Plan. So, when we had our subtypes that you see in the blue, they're calling it a Medical subtype, there is an additional subtype within the General Plan called the Educational Campus, it's on page 7-30. And on page 7- 30, it'll talk about that Campus subtype, and that residential uses are absolutely an accessory use to that. And so, part of the solution of this site as it transitions, is to look at it a little different and allow it to evolve. I think Boardmember Sarkissian put it very well. She's been by the site for a number of years, she's seen it stay vacant and the zoning case that happened in 2007 2008, things have changed considerably. The economy has changed. We've been through a pandemic, we've been through a boom period, now we're into major inflation. So as things evolve, we need to evolve as a City and a General Plan is exactly that, it's general. But within that General Plan, we're given latitude to change our mind a little bit. Now, this 80/20 ratio that was created in 2020, only a bureaucrat could come up with that and I listened to and with intent to the Planning Director and all due respect of the Planning Director, I tried to unravel that in my mind about why you'd have this 80/20 ratio and why that's so important. But to me, a General Plan should even be that specific, it really is trying to create three things, the innovative neighborhoods, the or excuse me, my note, the recognizable neighborhoods, innovative jobs, and memorable public spaces. And this project, I came just because I felt upset about the General Plan characterization in this case. And I love AT Still University, we worked really hard on City Council, during that period to bring educational uses here. And if you walk outside the backside of this building you're going to end, if you keep walking towards City Hall, you're going to run into ASU. And if you walk down the street a little bit more, you're going to run into Benedictine. And if you think about all these different things that have developed here, we need to preserve the educational uses, and I worry about AT Still. They may not go anywhere, but they may cease their expansion. The staff report does not mention AT Still wants, now, to me that's very concerning. It shows me what they value more getting wrapped around the axle about 80/20 ratios, than a major educational institution that's turning out the doctors that are employed next door at Banner, in the General Plan. And when you're looking at those ratios, we count 271 acres, if you were to count the rest of the

acreage into Gilbert, which is what this whole totality of the area would take in, then that whole 80/20 thing is like okay, yeah, we have a preponderance of medical uses here.

So, I think you have the latitude within changing your mind a little bit saying hey, this is a great place for residential, AT Still supports this. I am sure of how do we approach Banner. Banner would love to have some high end housing for their nurses and employees. He flashed past the picture kind of, quick of the doctor sleeping in the hallways that some of those hospitals, I've seen that myself happen. I'm sure you guys have to, let's be a little flexible here. Let's understand that the General Plan provides latitude to allow a great project to come to me. So I'd hope you vote for it. Thanks.

Chair Crockett invited the applicant to speak:

Applicant Charles Huellmantel added:

I do hope the final word is the vote. I wish I could take that myself as well. But at least the final comments, you know, we disagree respectfully with staff on what this means we disagree, particularly whether the General Plan should be the zoning case, or the zoning case should be the zoning case. But really what we disagree with, and you ask the guestion kind of well, kind of the chicken or the egg. I'm not even sure it's that anymore. Because I think we're at the point where we're not going to continue to get the jobs we want. If we don't have places to house people, they're not going to continue to get the students they wanted AT Still, if they can't find places for their students to live, because they're coming from other places. We in Arizona have worked really hard over the last decade, and more to bring to broaden our economy to make it not just about development, to bring jobs and industry in from other places. And you know what, one of the things that we benefited from the most was California, not because they weren't necessarily doing it, right, but because they made it too expensive and too difficult. And people had to live too far from their jobs. And people changed in that time. They wanted to live close to their jobs, particularly people who are working at a hospital and are working shifts from 2pm to 2am, or whatever it is all kinds of odd hours and tired when they get home. And they don't want, people don't want to drive 45 minutes anymore. And we shouldn't want that either. It's not good for the roads, it's not good for the environment. We should be designing campuses, with people in mind. And if you're going to put people in mind to have to have a place that they can live. And if we can continue to say, yeah, we think there's a housing problem, but somebody else should solve it, it should be somewhere else, not near here. It's not really solving the problem.

And this case, getting back to specifically what it is, does solve a specific problem. It takes land and yeah, you could put some other uses in there. You know, there's a ton of fast-food restaurants out there we can you know, Popeye's is already there. But maybe we can get all their competitors out there, and you can fill up this land on Baseline with 30 more fast food restaurants and take the land up. To me that's not great. That doesn't increase the feel of a campus or AT Still, it doesn't increase the job quality of life. For people who work at Banner, or for any of the remaining land uses. To me, having residential uses, really helps you get the rest of the land available for jobs, that are good jobs that people can afford to live by. So, I appreciate your time. I appreciate this. This is a tough case. But we really feel strongly that this is the right project and that's noted, not only by the kind words from the Design Review Board, but also the fact you have no opposition. It's so rare anymore to find a piece of land that

doesn't have opposition, but this one has support. And Councilman Richens pointed out, and I can probably even find you that piece of the code, even in the General Plan. And again, I would argue that it's a General Plan, not a zoning case, I think the law would support that. But even then, there are secondary uses and the secondary uses were always designed to be residential. So there any other questions? We'll be happy to take them.

Chair Crockett commented:

Thank you for that. You know, and I'll just make a comment. Charles, earlier you said that, that staff doesn't like apartments. And you know, since I've been on P&Z for I think about four years now, we have approved a lot of apartment projects or multi housing projects. So, I don't-

Applicant Charles Huellmantel interjected:

I think I'm happy to refine my if statement, if I said it wrong. What I heard in this session was the real issue is multifamily.

Chair Crockett responded:

Okay, and it's not an antagonism toward multifamily projects, it's really is this the right project in the right place? And so just-

Applicant Charles Huellmantel interjected:

Relating it to this case, and not willing to speak through a larger picture?

Chair Crockett commented:

Sure. Okay. I understand that and appreciate your presentation, that's certainly helped me understand much better, what we're talking about today.

Boardmember Montes inquired:

Can you tell me how many students attend the university?

Applicant Charles Huellmantel responded:

I can't tell you the exact number. There may be a representative here can tell you, I can tell you that the University breaks down, though into a way that would make that somewhat misleading. The University has students on campus, in fact, they have some clinics and other things. And they also run similar clinics in lots of other places. So even if I gave you the real number, which I think the thing you really want to know is how many students live, participate in that campus? And I think it's few 1000, at least.

Chair Crockett commented:

Okay-

Applicant Charles Huellmantel interjected:

They also have plans for continued growth.

Chair Crockett stated:

Okay, so we have an item on our agenda with a recommendation. Do I have a motion on this?

Boardmember Allen added:

Hey, excuse me, Chair Crockett, you need to close the public hearing first.

Chair Crockett closed the public hearing.

Boardmember Allen commented:

If I could take a moment to share my thoughts on this project. Given my background, obviously, with Economic Development, and being part of the City staff for 30 years, I have a tendency, I'm leaning towards supporting staff and their recommendation only because I was there when AT Still came in. And I watched that development goal, you know, everything developed around it. And I've watched, I know that was an employment center. And we've tried to maintain that and I fall back to the Economic Development staff, that they know what they're doing and their recruitment efforts. And so, I'm leaning to support towards a recommended denial, or at least supporting the denial recommendation.

Boardmember Peterson commented:

Yeah, just some thoughts on this- and from a baseline of staff recommendations, I have a lot of respect for it, put a lot of credence in the staff recommendations. In this particular case, and in the late 90s, I live just on the north side of the freeway here. So, I'm very familiar with it. I've watched it grow up over the years. I do see that when I pull back, you know, half a mile, two miles, five miles, in my little SimCity mind and say what's good planning here. The case before us feels like good planning, it feels like a good mix. When I go to this 80/20 mix, which I get it to number whether it's arbitrary or not. And this site is 10 acres, that's 4% of the area, if 17% is already secondary, another 4% is 21, call it 20. It's within that range of that balance that the General Plan is seeking, although it might not be in the exact- this comes before that. And then the bigger thing is, just the time factor. Factor of supply and demand on development and what's coming in. If Economic Development had such high demand for this, why have we gone 25 years, and particularly the last 10 years of hyper employment related growth, and not had more go on here, and I get there's a case for a large parcel and that's great. Coming before us here in the near future, sounds like that's more industrial, which is in call it the gray area of I think what we're talking about here. I would guess that that's not Economic Development, first wish that would go in here, and then seeing how the hospital campus is developed in, in all directions in this area. And the support that is needed, not just general population wise with a shortage of housing, but specific to the hospital for longer term stays for patients, patient's relatives, medical workers, students at the University, there it to me. It feels like it's a good planning thing to do. And so, for that reason, the I would be in supportive of recommendation for approval for this case.

Boardmember Pitcher commented:

You know, in looking at the restrictions in the fact, I think I heard that the tenant was an affiliate of the owner, I think you know, some of this is that they have control over who goes in there. So, I mean, the fact that it's vacant and somewhat, you know, their own choosing. The other thing I'm concerned about is, and there between Higley and Greenfield from Baseline north, there's 2100 apartments just there. And I don't know if there's, really necessarily a need that this one would solve, if we've got some availability down south.

Boardmember Sarkissian commented:

I guess, I just again, looking at the history of the site and seeing what's around it and what's gone on. I mean, even to the south, Gilbert's done crazy stuff going on the west side. But even when you start looking in this portion, south of Baseline, it's stalling. Higley, Recker dead ends into it you have AT Still. So, I feel a special mean, it is a really great piece. I just feel like if it was in demand, it would, especially with everything going on, it would have kind of hit, or you'd have another application for it. I don't know that, how many applications have come before on this site. So, with this one without there being at this point, that some of this stuff is getting cannibalized by the insanity that is going on at Elliot Corridor, I think it's somewhat in close proximity, mileage drive wise, but I do think the housing shortage issue, it's kind of gotten ridiculous. So for that, I would actually be in support of that, because I don't see anything else coming before us at this time. I didn't know what is before us is this and like I mentioned, I've been driving by it since 2003. And since the last development I've seen in this area was 2007. And then in 2010 was the YMCA, which is affiliated with the school, but you have been there since 2004. Another I mean, there's nothing that's been pushing this for growth in that sense. So that's my concern is that we're waiting for something that's not incentivized enough to go here, despite how much we want it to be there.

Chair Crockett commented:

But I'll just share my thoughts. I am persuaded I guess by Boardmember Pitcher. I think that the owner of the property has within its control the ability to market this property in a way that could have it be developed. I think we have an item on our agenda today, that's the recommendation that we approved, was that it be continued to the later September meeting. But that's a large project and as the Director here said that, you know, it's not just we shouldn't just focus as narrowly on medical here. I mean, it's an employment parcel. It's large. It's a large area for employment. I spent 10 years on Economic Development before coming here, so I'm very, very invested in, Economic Development in Mesa and in preserving areas that we have for employment. And I indicated earlier, since I've been on the board here, we've approved many, many multi-family housing projects. So, it's not an aversion. I understand that the issues with the demands for housing, but again, for me, it's about right place right time. So, I'm going to go ahead, and I'm going to move this item. And we'll see if I get a second on it.

Boardmember Montes commented:

I just was speaking, I know Banner on Power between Main and Broadway. Yes, I know that I had spoken to them, because my school is in that area. And I know that many of the nurses there, and hospital employees are traveling from other cities to go and work there. And they're lacking housing in our area. And so, a part of me is I think, if they are working there, or near Banner or any of those hospitals, but they're living in other cities, that doesn't bring us an economic value. Right, because they're not shopping in our town, they're living in other areas. So, part of me I'm kind of thinking, I mean, I'm new here. So, it's my first time, but I could see the benefit of having housing. My other question would be, I don't know, the apartments near there are they... I would want some, are they at capacity? Do students use those apartments? Like I would want some numbers in looking at that? Because there's apartments right there, but I'm not sure. Are they at capacity? Do they have a waiting list and fully occupied?

Chair Crockett motioned to deny case ZON22-00431. The motion was seconded by Boardmember Allen.

Chair Crockett clarified:

Well, I recommend denial. The staff recommendation here.

Assistant City Attorney Sarah Staudinger commented:

So to pass any motion, you need a quorum of those present. So to pass any motion, you need four votes. You could make another motion, but I assume, based on the outcome of this, it ends up three-three as well. So when it goes to City Council, it's going to be recorded on their agendas, a split, three- three.

Chair Crockett motioned to deny case ZON22-00431. The motion was seconded by Boardmember Allen.

That: The Board reached a tie vote to deny case ZON22-00431:

Vote: 3-3 (Ayers, absent) Upon tabulation of vote, it showed: AYES – Crockett, Allen, Pitcher NAYS – Sarkissian, Peterson, Montes

* * * * *

*4-f ZON22-00607 District 6. Within the 7600 to 8000 blocks of East Elliot Road (north side) and within the 3300 to 3600 blocks of South 80th Street (west side). Located east of Sossaman Road and north of Elliot Road. (58+ acres). Rezone from Agriculture (AG), Limited Commercial (LC) and Single Residence 43 (RS-43) to Light Industrial with a Planned Area Development Overlay (LI-PAD) and Site Plan Review. This request will allow for an industrial development. Pew & Lake, applicant; TLC Foundation LP, owner. (Companion case to Preliminary Plat "Wentworth Mesa," associated with item *5-c)

<u>Planner</u>: Joshua Grandlienard <u>Staff recommendation</u>: Approval with conditions

Summary: This case was on the consent agenda and therefore was not discussed separate individual item.

Boardmember Pitcher motioned to approve case ZON22-00607. The motion was seconded by Boardmember Sarkissian.

That: The Board recommends approve the case ZON22-00607 conditioned upon:

- 1. Compliance with the final site plan submitted.
- 2. Compliance with the landscape plan submitted.
- 3. Compliance with the Preliminary Plat submitted.
- 4. Compliance with all requirements of the Subdivision Regulations.
- 5. Compliance with all requirements of DRB22-00673.
- 6. Dedicate the right-of-way and easements required under the Mesa City Code at the time of application for a building permit, or at the time of the City's request for dedication whichever comes first.
- 7. Compliance with all requirements of Chapter 19 of the Zoning Ordinance including:
 - a. Owner must execute the City's standard Avigation Easement and Release for Phoenix-Mesa Gateway Airport prior to or concurrently with the recordation of the final subdivision map or the issuance of a building permit, whichever occurs first.
 - b. Due to the proximity to Phoenix-Mesa Gateway Airport, any proposed permanent, or temporary structure, as required by the FAA, is subject to an FAA filing, for review in conformance with CFR Title 14 Part 77 (Form 7460) to determine any effect to navigable airspace and air navigation facilities. A completed form with a response by the FAA must accompany any building permit application for structure(s) on the property.
 - c. Provide written notice to future property owners that the project is within two miles of Phoenix-Mesa Gateway Airport.
 - d. Prior to issuance of any building permit, provide documentation by a registered professional engineer or registered professional architect demonstrating compliance with the noise level reductions required in Section 11-19-5 of the Mesa Zoning Ordinance.
 - e. All final subdivision plats must include a disclosure notice in accordance with Section 11-19-5(C) of the Zoning Ordinance which must state in part: "This property, due to its proximity to the Phoenix-Mesa Gateway Airport, will experience aircraft overflights, which are expected to generate noise levels that may be of concern to some individuals."
- 8. Compliance with all City development codes and regulations, except the modification to the development standards as approved with this PAD as shown in the following table:

Development Standards	Approved
Maximum Building Height –	
MZO Section 11-7-3	50 feet
Required Parking Spaces by Use –	1 space per 600 square feet
MZO Table 11-32-3. A	
- Industrial	

Vote: 6-0 (Ayers, absent) Upon tabulation of vote, it showed: AYES – Crockett, Allen, Sarkissian, Peterson, Pitcher, Montes NAYS – None

* * * * *

*4-g ZON22-00669 District 5. Within the 1200 to 1300 blocks of North Power Road (east side). Located north of Brown Road on the east side of Power Road. (8± acres). Rezone from Single Residence 35 (RS-35) to Public and Semi-Public District with a Planned Area Development overlay (PS-PAD) and Site Plan Review. This request will allow for a Public Safety Facility. Michaela Chelini, City of Mesa, applicant; City of Mesa, owner.

<u>Planner</u>: Cassidy Welch <u>Staff recommendation</u>: Approval with conditions

Summary: This case was on the consent agenda and therefore was not discussed separate individual item.

Boardmember Pitcher motioned to approve case ZON22-00669. The motion was seconded by Boardmember Allen.

That: The Board recommends approve the case ZON22-00669 conditioned upon:

- 1. Compliance with final site plan submitted.
- 2. Compliance with all requirements of Design Review, Case No. DRB22-00670.
- 3. Submit and receive approval of an Administrative Use Permit (AUP) to allow surface parking to exceed 125% of the minimum required.
- 4. Compliance with all City development codes and regulations, except the modifications to the development standards as approved with the PAD overlay and shown in the following table:

Development Standards	Approved
Landscape Yards –	
MZO Section 11-10-3 & 11-33-3	
-Front and Street Facing Side (Power Road)	8 feet
Perimeter Landscaping –	
MZO Section 11-33-3	
- Non-single residence uses adjacent to single	Along the north property only, 0 trees
residence (north property line)	and 0 shrubs are required
Interior Parking Lot Landscaping –	
MZO Section 11-33-4	
- Landscape Islands	In the secured parking area located on
	the east side of the site only, parking
	lot landscape islands shall be installed
	at each end of a row of stalls for
	maximum 18 contiguous spaces

5. Dedicate the right-of-way and easements required under the Mesa City Code at the time of application for a building permit, at the time of recordation of the subdivision plat, or at the time of the City's request for dedication whichever comes first.

Vote: 6-0 (Ayers, absent) Upon tabulation of vote, it showed: AYES – Crockett, Allen, Sarkissian, Peterson, Pitcher, Montes NAYS – None

* * * * *

*4-h ZON22-00677 District 1. Within the 3900 block of East Oasis Circle (south side) and within the 2800 to 2900 blocks of North Norwalk (west side). Located north of McDowell Road and west of Greenfield Road. (0.34± acres). Site Plan Review. This request will allow for an industrial development. Greg Hitchens, applicant; ViewPoint Resort, LLC, owner.

<u>Planner</u>: Sean Pesek <u>Staff recommendation</u>: Approval with conditions

Summary: This case was on the consent agenda and therefore was not discussed separate individual item.

Boardmember Pitcher motioned to approve case ZON22-00677. The motion was seconded by Boardmember Sarkissian.

That: The Board recommends approve the case ZON22-00677 conditioned upon:

- 1. Compliance with the final site plan submitted.
- 2. Compliance with all requirements of DRB22-00679.
- 3. Compliance with the Landscape Plan submitted.
- 4. Compliance with all City development codes and regulations.
- 5. Compliance with all requirements of Chapter 19 of the Zoning Ordinance including:
 - a. Owner must execute the City's standard Avigation Easement and Release for Falcon Field Airport prior to or concurrently with the recordation of the final subdivision map or the issuance of a building permit, whichever occurs first.
 - b. Due to the proximity to Falcon Field Airport, any proposed permanent, or temporary structure, as required by the FAA, is subject to an FAA filing, for review in conformance with CFR Title 14 Part 77 (Form 7460) to determine any effect to navigable airspace and air navigation facilities. A completed form with a response by the FAA must accompany any building permit application for structure(s) on the property. Provide written notice to future property owners that the project is within two miles of Phoenix-Mesa Gateway Airport.

Vote: 6-0 (Ayers, absent) Upon tabulation of vote, it showed: AYES – Crockett, Allen, Sarkissian, Peterson, Pitcher, Montes NAYS – None

* * * * *

*4-i ZON22-00682 District 6. Within the 3700 to 3900 blocks of South Sossaman Road (east side). Located south of Elliot Road on the east side of Sossaman Road. (20± acres). Rezone from Light Industrial (LI) to Light Industrial with a Planned Area Development overlay (LI-PAD), Council Use Permit (CUP), and Site Plan Review. This request will allow for the expansion of an existing mini-storage facility with boat and recreational vehicle storage. Timothy Quigley, applicant; Redpoint Contracting, LLC and Happy Wife Storage, LLC, owner.

<u>Planner</u>: Sean Pesek <u>Staff recommendation</u>: Approval with conditions

Summary: This case was on the consent agenda and therefore was not discussed separate individual item.

Boardmember Pitcher motioned to approve case ZON22-00682. The motion was seconded by Boardmember Sarkissian.

That: The Board recommends approve the case ZON22-00682 conditioned upon:

- 1. Compliance with the final site plan submitted.
- 2. Compliance with all requirements of Design Review case number DRB22-00683.
- 3. Compliance with all requirements of Chapter 19 of the Zoning Ordinance including:
 - a. Owner must execute and record the City's standard Avigation Easement and Release for Phoenix Mesa Gateway Airport prior to the issuance of a building permit, whichever occurs first.
 - b. Due to the proximity to Phoenix Mesa Gateway Airport, any proposed permanent or temporary structure, as required by the FAA, is subject to an FAA filing, for review in conformance with CFR Title 14 Part 77 (Form 7460) to determine any effect to navigable airspace and air navigation facilities. A completed form with a response by the FAA must accompany any building permit application for structure(s) on the property.
 - c. Prior to the issuance of any building permit, provide documentation by a registered professional engineer or registered professional architect demonstrating compliance with the noise level reductions required in Section 11-19-5 of the Mesa Zoning Ordinance.
 - d. Provide written notice to future property owners that the project is within 5 miles of the Phoenix Mesa Gateway Airport
 - e. All final subdivision plats must include a disclosure notice in accordance with Section 11-19-5(C) of the Zoning Ordinance which must state in part: "This property, due to its proximity to Phoenix Mesa Gateway Airport, will experience aircraft overflights, which are expected to generate noise levels that may be of concern to some individuals."
- 4. Compliance with all City development codes and regulations, except the modifications to the development standards as approved with this PAD and shown in the following table:

Development Standard	
	Approved
Minimum Yards –	
MZO Section 11-7-3	
- Interior side and rear (south property line)	5 feet
Minimum Landscape Setback –	
MZO Section 11-33-3(B)	
- Adjacent to single residence zoning	5 feet
(south property line)	

Note:Audio recordings of the Planning & Zoning Board Meetings are available in the Planning Division Office for review. They are also "live broadcasted" through the City of Mesa's website at www.mesaaz.gov

*4-i ZON22-00924 District 6. Within the 3700 to 3900 blocks of South Hawes Road (west side) and within the 7800 block of East Elliot Road (south side). Located east of Sossaman Road and north of Warner Road. (26± acres). Rezone from Small Lot Single Residence-4.0 with a Planned Area Development overlay (RSL-4.0-PAD) to Small Lot Single Residence-4.0 with a Planned Area Development overlay (RSL-4.0-PAD) to Small Lot Single Residence-4.0 with a Planned Area Development overlay (RSL-4.0-PAD). This request will allow for the development of a single residence subdivision. Keith Nitcher, Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc., applicant; Robo Land, LLC, owner.

<u>Planner</u>: Sean Pesek <u>Staff recommendation</u>: Approval with conditions

Summary: This case was on the consent agenda and therefore was not discussed separate individual item.

Boardmember Pitcher motioned to approve case ZON22-00924. The motion was seconded by Boardmember Allen.

That: The Board recommends approve the case ZON22-00924 conditioned upon:

- 1. Compliance with the Hawes Crossing Village 2 Preliminary Plat (Case No. ZON21-01023).
- 2. Compliance with the Hawes Crossing Development Agreement No. 3144 (Recorders No. 2020-0381318) and approved master reports.
- 3. Compliance with all City development codes and regulations, except the modification to the development standards as approved with Case No. ZON17-00606 (Ordinance No. 5566) and this PAD as shown in the following table:

Development Standard RSL-4.0	Approved
Minimum Lot Depth – MZO Section 11-5-3	75 feet only for Parcel A of Hawes Crossing
	Village 2

Note:Audio recordings of the Planning & Zoning Board Meetings are available in the Planning Division Office for review. They are also "live broadcasted" through the City of Mesa's website at

www.mesaaz.gov

5 Discuss and take action on the following preliminary plats:

*5-a "Grove on Main" District 4. Within the 0 to 100 block of South Mesa Drive (east side), the 0 to 100 block of South Udall (east and west sides), and the 0 to 100 block of South LeSueur (west side). Located east of Mesa Drive and south of Main Street. (4.6+ acres). Preliminary Plat. Noel Griemsmann, Snell & Wilmer L.L.P., applicant; Suburban Land Reserve Inc., owner.

<u>Planner</u>: Jennifer Merrill <u>Staff Recommendation</u>: Approval with Conditions

Summary: This case was on the consent agenda and therefore was not discussed separate individual item.

Boardmember Pitcher motioned to approve preliminary plat "Grove on Main". The motion was seconded by Boardmember Allen.

That: The Board recommends approve preliminary plat "Grove on Main" conditioned upon:

- 1. Compliance with the Preliminary Plat submitted.
- 2. Compliance with all City development codes and regulations.
- 3. Compliance with all requirements of the Subdivision Regulations.

Note: Audio recordings of the Planning & Zoning Board Meetings are available in the Planning Division Office for review. They are also "live broadcasted" through the City of Mesa's website at www.mesaaz.gov

*5-b "Baseline Logistics Park" District 2. Within the 5600 to 5800 blocks of East Inverness Avenue (north and west side) and within the 5600 to 5800 blocks of South Sunview (north and south sides). Located east of Higley Road and north of Baseline Road (50± acres). Preliminary Plat. Sean Lake, Pew & Lake, PLC, applicant; VHS ACQUISITION SUBSIDIARY NUMBER 11 INC, owner. (Companion case to ZON22-00263, associated with item *4-d)

Planner: Cassidy Welch

<u>Staff Recommendation</u>: Continue to the September 28, 2022 Planning and Zoning Board meeting

Summary: This case was on the consent agenda and therefore was not discussed separate individual item.

Boardmember Pitcher motioned to continue preliminary plat "Baseline Logistics Park" to the September 28, 2022 Planning and Zoning Board meeting. The motion was seconded by Boardmember Allen.

That: The Board recommends continue preliminary plat "Baseline Logistics Park" to the September 28, 2022 Planning and Zoning Board meeting.

Note:Audio recordings of the Planning & Zoning Board Meetings are available in the Planning Division Office for review. They are also "live broadcasted" through the City of Mesa's website at <u>www.mesaaz.gov</u>

*5-c "Wentworth Mesa" District 6. Within the 7600 to 8000 blocks of East Elliot Road (north side) and within the 3300 to 3600 blocks of South 80th Street (west side). Located east of Sossaman Road and north of Elliot Road. (58+ acres). Preliminary Plat. This request will allow for an industrial development. Pew & Lake, applicant; TLC Foundation LP, owner. (Companion case to ZON22-00607," associated with item *4-f)

<u>Planner</u>: Joshua Grandlienard <u>Staff recommendation</u>: Approval with conditions

Summary: This case was on the consent agenda and therefore was not discussed separate individual item.

Boardmember Pitcher motioned to approve preliminary plat "Wentworth Mesa." The motion was seconded by Boardmember Allen.

That: The Board recommends to approve preliminary plat "Wentworth Mesa" conditioned upon:

- 1. Compliance with the final site plan submitted.
- 2. Compliance with the landscape plan submitted.
- 3. Compliance with the Preliminary Plat submitted.
- 4. Compliance with all requirements of the Subdivision Regulations.
- 5. Compliance with all requirements of DRB22-00673.
- 6. Dedicate the right-of-way and easements required under the Mesa City Code at the time of application for a building permit, or at the time of the City's request for dedication whichever comes first.
- 7. Compliance with all requirements of Chapter 19 of the Zoning Ordinance including:
 - a. Owner must execute the City's standard Avigation Easement and Release for Phoenix-Mesa Gateway Airport prior to or concurrently with the recordation of the final subdivision map or the issuance of a building permit, whichever occurs first.
 - b. Due to the proximity to Phoenix-Mesa Gateway Airport, any proposed permanent, or temporary structure, as required by the FAA, is subject to an FAA filing, for review in conformance with CFR Title 14 Part 77 (Form 7460) to determine any effect to navigable airspace and air navigation facilities. A completed form with a response by the FAA must accompany any building permit application for structure(s) on the property.
 - c. Provide written notice to future property owners that the project is within two miles of Phoenix-Mesa Gateway Airport.
 - d. Prior to issuance of any building permit, provide documentation by a registered professional engineer or registered professional architect demonstrating compliance with the noise level reductions required in Section 11-19-5 of the Mesa Zoning Ordinance.
 - e. All final subdivision plats must include a disclosure notice in accordance with Section 11-19-5(C) of the Zoning Ordinance which must state in part: "This property, due to its proximity to the Phoenix-Mesa Gateway Airport, will experience aircraft overflights, which are expected to generate noise levels that may be of concern to some individuals."

8. Compliance with all City development codes and regulations, except the modification to the development standards as approved with this PAD as shown in the following table:

Development Standards	Approved
Maximum Building Height –	
MZO Section 11-7-3	50 feet
Required Parking Spaces by Use –	1 space per 600 square feet
MZO Table 11-32-3. A	
- Industrial	

Note:Audio recordings of the Planning & Zoning Board Meetings are available in the Planning Division Office for review. They are also "live broadcasted" through the City of Mesa's website at <u>www.mesaaz.gov</u>

6 Adjournment.

Boardmember Peterson motioned to adjourn the meeting. The motion was seconded by Boardmember Pitcher.

Vote: 6-0 (Ayers, absent) Upon tabulation of vote, it showed: AYES – Crockett, Allen, Sarkissian, Peterson, Pitcher, Montes NAYS – None

The City of Mesa is committed to making its public meetings accessible to persons with disabilities. For special accommodations, please contact the City Manager's Office at (480) 644-3333 or AzRelay 7-1-1 at least 48 hours in advance of the meeting.

Si necesita asistencia o traducción en español, favor de llamar al menos 48 horas antes de la reunión al (480) 644-2767.

Respectfully submitted,

Michelle Dahlke Principal Planner